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INTRODUCTION  

 
On September 10, 2008, the communities of the Village of Albion in Orleans County, Village of Lyons in Wayne County, and City of Lockport in Niagara 

County were announced by the Western Erie Canal Alliance (WECA) as the three inaugural designated Main Street communities of the Western Erie 

Canal Main Street Programðthe first certified Main Street® programs in New York State.  The Western Erie Canal Main Street Program is an 

implementation strategy of the Western Erie Canal Heritage Corridor Management Plan, adopted by the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and 

Historic Preservation in August, 2005.  In March 2006, WECA was formed as a non-profit corporation to implement the Western Erie Canal Heritage 

Corridor Management Plan.  The Western Erie Canal Main Street Program is a partner with the National Trust Main Street Center®, a program of the 

National Trust for Historic Preservation®. 

 

On December 30, 2009, the New York State Department of State announced that the Western Erie Canal Main Street Program was one of 90 projects 

across New York State to receive funding from the State Environmental Protection Fundôs Local Waterfront Revitalization Program (EPF-LWRP).  

Sponsored by Wayne County, the program proposed the continuation of its general regional coordination duties and to provide technical assistance and 

training for the downtown revitalization of selected historic canal communities.  The Historic Preservation Guidebook is part of the technical assistance 

and training under the 2009-2010 EPF-LWRP grant award. 

 

Phase One of the Historic Preservation Guidebook for the Western Erie Canal Main Street Program was completed in February 2012 and is available for 

download at the Genesee/Finger Lakes Regional Planning Council (G/FLRPC) website.  The Historic Preservation Guidebook has three basic sections:   

 

Education Why is historic preservation important?  How do we educate our businesses and residents? 

Organization A ñhow toò guide for Main Street Program Managers to effectively work with local municipal officials and boards, 

regional agencies, and state and federal agencies; with a description of their roles as related to historic preservation. 

Implementation Funding programs and incentives, regulations, and associated review boards. 

 

Phase One serves as a basic compendium of online tools, textual resources, definitions, graphs, maps, and interviews for any person who is interested in 

learning more about preserving the built heritage in the context of business district revitalization.   

 

Phase Two is the development of community specific design guidelines for the Village of Albion, Village of Lyons, and City of Lockport.  It is anticipated 

that two more communities will be added to the Western Erie Canal Main Street Program and will also receive community specific design guidelines.  The 

document includes a historic overview of the canal community and an inventory of historic resources within the Main Street Target Area, or the primary 

commercial center.  Architectural design guidelines that enhance overall understanding and interpretation of basic preservation principles are included, 

along with advisory site and landscape design elements for the Main Street Target Area.  These design guidelines, which are specific to the Main Street 

Target Area, are intended to provide broad historic preservation guidance and to assist property and business owners through the design review process to 

ensure compatibility with the style and form of the historic building, neighboring buildings, and the streetscape.   
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HISTORIC OVERVIEW OF THE VILLAGE OF LYONS 
 
The area around Lyons was first settled in the late eighteenth century, primarily by people migrating west from New England and eastern New York.  The 

confluence of the Canandaigua Outlet and Ganargua (Mud) Creek was briefly known as ñThe Forksò until it was renamed ñLyonsò by Sir William 

Pulteneyôs land agent, Charles Williamson, in a 1796 survey of the Pulteney Estate.1  Williamson thought the confluence resembled the Saone and Rhone 

Rivers at their junction in the City of Lyons, France as well as the surrounding plains and upland.2  Anticipating appreciating land values associated with 

the construction of the Erie Canal through Lyons, the Joppa Land Company purchased and subdivided John Riggôs 116-acre farm on the flats in 1821.  

Wayne County was established from Ontario County in 1823 and Lyons, strategically located on both the Clyde River and the Erie Canal, was designated 

the county seat.3  

 

It was the opening of the Erie Canal in 1825 and peppermint growing that brought prosperity to the community.  When canal navigation began, Lyons had 

a population of 400ðit topped 900 before the canal was completed a year later.4  Lyons was incorporated as a village in 1831.  The low-lying mucky soils 

in the area were ideal for high-purity peppermint cultivation.  Lyons became the headquarters for the nationôs leading nineteenth century producer and 

shipper of essential oils used in the flavoring of confections and patent medicines, the H.G. Hotchkiss Essential Oil Company.  The Erie Canal facilitated 

the storage, bottling, and distribution of peppermint, spearmint, and other essential oils.  Nearly 40,000 pounds of oil were produced in the Lyons area in 

1846.  By 1869, it was reported that 80,000 pounds of peppermint oil were produced in Wayne County.  The mint industry totaled $230,000 and was the 

major cash crop in Wayne County in 1876. 

 

Peppermint cultivation in Wayne County began to dwindle at the turn of the century as farmers began producing greater yields in the large muckland 

regions of the Midwest.  Local farmers soon turned to more profitable ventures in dairy farming and fruit and vegetable production.  At one time there 

were 100 distilleries in Wayne County; in 1898, only 25 were in operation and the following year the number had decreased to half.5  

 

Since the end of World War II, development patterns in Lyons, as in most of America, have undergone a dramatic transformation known as 

suburbanization.  Beginning in the 1940s with the rising popularity and availability of the automobile, the federal interstate highway program and 

mortgage subsidies, people began moving from cities and villages to outlying areas where inexpensive new housing was being developed.  Businesses and 

commercial development soon followed and as a result, the downtown today no longer dominates as the location of most jobs and housing.   

 

The 2010 Census shows the total population for the Village of Lyons as 3,619, which is an 8.7% decrease from the 2000 Census.6  Between 1990 and 

2000, the Village lost 585 people (13.7% decrease). 

                                                 
1 The Pulteney Purchase or the Genesee Tract comprised all of the present counties of Ontario, Steuben, and Yates as well as portions of Allegany, Livingston, Monroe, 

Schuler, and Wayne in New York State.  After Pulteneyôs death in 1805, the land was known as the Pulteney Estate.  Williamson-Pultneyville Historical Society, 

ñWilliamson-History,ò http://w-phs.org/pages/Williamson.htm (accessed 27 June 2013). 
2 Edgar Luderne Welch, ñGripôsò Historical Souvenir of Lyons (1904), 18. 
3 Grace Episcopal Church Complex, National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (June 1994), 2. 
4 ñGripôsò Historical Souvenir of Lyons, 13. 
5 H.G. Hotchkiss Essential Oil Company, National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (July 1987), 6-9. 

http://w-phs.org/pages/Williamson.htm


3 

 

HISTORIC RESOURCES IN THE MAIN STREET TARGET AREA 

 
There are 162 parcels within Lyons Main Street Programôs ñMain Street Target Area.ò  This target area is the traditional commercial core of the 

community.  The Main Street Target Area stretches from Water Street on the south to the west side of Broad Street and encompasses Geneva Street (New 

York State Route 14) north to Phelps Street.  The target area contains Water and Broad Streets, a district of the oldest surviving commercial buildings 

related to canal commerce.  Another concentration of historic commercial buildings can be found along William and Canal Streets.  The Second Empire 

Style with its signature mansard roof (dual-pitched hipped) dominates this area, which includes the north side of Canal Street, 76-78 William Street (Lyons 

Village and Town Hall), and 78-80 William Street.  This style was popular for urban housing in the decades between 1860 and 1880.  The mansard roof 

was particularly suitable for rowhouses, as it provided an upper floor behind the steep roof line.  Most rowhouses were built right to the sidewalk line and 

extended deep into the lot.  The boxy roof line made the structure less massive than most other styles with comparable interior space.7 

 

Properties listed on the State and National Registers of Historic Places that are situated in the Main Street Target Area include the Broad Street-Water 

Street Historic District, Grace Episcopal Church Complex at 7-9 Phelps Street and 12 Lawrence Street, Lyons Post Office at 1-5 Pearl Street, and the H.G. 

Hotchkiss Essential Oil Company Plant at 93-95 Water Street.  Dipper Dredge No. 3 is a steam-powered floating dredge that is located in the Lyons dry 

dock of the New York State Canal System. 

 

The Broad Street-Water Street Historic District is a T-shaped commercial area that lies along the northern edge of the Erie Canal. The boundaries of the 

district encompass a section of the canal as well as buildings dating from the 1830s to the 1890s with stone piers along the street level and cast-iron 

storefronts and balconies.  The district includes properties on both sides of Broad Street, south of Pearl Street, and both sides of Water Street.  The Erie 

Canal, parallel to Water Street, forms the districtôs southern boundary.  A segment of the canal behind the designated Water Street buildings is included 

within the National Register Historic District.8 

 

The Village of Lyons adopted Local Law 3 of 2007 entitled ñPreservation of Historic Structures and Districts.ò  A potential historic district, which 

encompasses the Main Street Program Target Area, has been referred to the Village of Lyons Joint Planning Board and is currently under review.  A 

historic designation process is provided as Appendix C to assist in landmarking more historic buildings and districts in the Village of Lyons. 

 

All surveys and designations have been analyzed, focusing solely on the properties that fall within the Main Street Target Area.  The Main Street Target 

Area and the various historic properties and districts are displayed on a Geographic Information System (GIS) map entitled, ñLyons Main Street Program 

Target Area.ò  This map is listed as Appendix A. 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
6 United States Census Bureau, ñ2010 Population Finder,ò www.census.gov (accessed 28 May 2013).  G/FLRPC, ñProfile of General Demographic Characteristics: 2000 - 

Geographic Area: Lyons village, New York,ò http://www.gflrpc.org/ProgramAreas/DTRC/DataCenter/Census/Demographics/Wayne.pdf (accessed 28 May 2013).   
7 Herbert Gottfried and Jan Jennings, American Vernacular Design 1870 to 1940: An Illustrated Glossary (New York, NY: VanNostrand Reinhold Company, 1985), 241 

and 242. 
8 Broad Street-Water Street Historic District, National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (July 1973), 3. 

http://www.census.gov/
http://www.gflrpc.org/ProgramAreas/DTRC/DataCenter/Census/Demographics/Wayne.pdf
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WESTERN ERIE CANAL VERNACULAR ARCHITECTURE   
 
Historic buildings with architectural significance are concentrated in settlements 

along what was once New Yorkôs major commercial artery, the Erie Canal.  The 

Western Erie Canal Heritage Corridor, which includes the counties of Erie, Monroe, 

Niagara, Orleans, and Wayne, features the longest segment of the old Erie Canal 

that is still in use as part of the New York State Canal System. 

 

Ground was broken for the original ñClintonôs Ditchò in Rome, New York in 1817.  

The Erie Canal was completed eight years later, providing an uninterrupted route for 

transporting passengers and merchandise from the Hudson and Champlain Valleys 

with Lake Erie and the West.  Bustling canal communities formed at areas that 

intersected with rural roads and waterways, such as a lock or wide water, and major 

railroad lines.  Most of the extant historic building stock dates to the second half of 

the nineteenth century and are clustered in central business districts.  They served as 

inns and taverns, warehouses, stores, factories, and houses for travelers, canal 

workers, and residents.  The central business districts are located adjacent to the 

original canal bed, the focal point of development from the 1820s through the 

enlargement of the canal from 1835 to 1862 and its final conversion to the Barge 

Canal in the early twentieth century.   

 

The communities in the Western Erie Canal Heritage Corridor feature central 

business districts with a distinct layout and orientation.  The Old Erie right-of-way 

was merely widened, deepened, and enhanced during the creation of the Barge 

Canal (in other areas of the state, the Old Erie was either abandoned or radically 

altered).  Consequently, the canal still forms the core of these historic settlements 

and their surrounding agricultural and natural landscapes.  The Villages of Holley 

and Medina in Orleans County, for example, took advantage of the canalôs curve 

and embankment to obtain greater access to the waterway.  Commercial 

development expanded along streets running north to south perpendicular to the 

canal in the Village of Spencerport in Monroe County, the Village of Albion in 

Orleans County, and the Village of Clyde in Wayne County.  A significant 
(Above) Map of Lyons, Wayne County by John Bevan,  

City Surveyor, 1852.   Development occurred on the north 

side of the Erie Canal in the Village of Lyons.   

Historic image courtesy of the  

Museum of Wayne County History.  
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characteristic of these canal communities is that most developed on the opposite side from the towpath, likely to keep the movement of goods 

uninterrupted from the animal traffic.9 

 

The Erie Canal centrally divides the Village of Lyons, with the north side containing the historic commercial district.  Water Street runs to the north of the 

canal, along which the first business district developed in the Village.  Lyons follows the typical Pulteney estate plan as laid out by Charles Williamson, 

which included a central axis divided to box a large open square.  The survey ñlaid out the streets with acre lots, reserving a thousand acresò for the site.  

Broad, William, Butternut, Water, Pearl, Church, and Queen were the first streets, opened along surveyed lines but not ñimproved except to cut down the 

trees that stood most in the way.ò10  The central square was used for military drills, public ceremonies, and livestock grazing.  In Wayne County, the 

squares of Sodus Point and Lyons recall the association of the proprietor, Sir William Pulteney, with Bath in England.11   

 

The opening of the canal in 1822 had given an ñunwonted spring to enterpriseò declared a writer in the Lyons paper.  ñSince last fall,ò he wrote, ñthree 

new stores have been opened here.  We actually need more men to carry on the followingðwagon and sleigh making, saddle and harness making, the 

manufacture of sheet iron and tin articles and boat building. It is a good position for distilling and brewing; and although there is some leather made here, 

an intelligent shoemaker told me that $2,000 in cash went out of this village in one year for this single article.ò12 

 

Two- to four-story attached commercial buildings composed mostly of brick, although occasionally stone, represent the type of compact downtown 

development that existed before the arrival of the automobile.  These buildings contained retail space on the first floor and commercial or residential space 

on the upper floors.  A historic commercial building is composed of three basic elements:  the storefront, upper façade, and cornice.  The storefront 

typically contains large glass windows with bulkheads, or kick-plates, to prevent breakage and to elevate merchandise.  The upper façade contains both 

wall materials and windows.  The cornice is the visual termination of the storefront and upper façade, usually the most decorative element in a downtown 

commercial building.   

 

By the 1850s, brick and cast-iron had replaced many wood-frame commercial buildings in the Main Street Target Area.  By the 1900s, commercial 

buildings began to update their nineteenth century storefronts.  It is very likely that a majority of the first-floor stores in the Western Erie Canal Heritage 

Corridor have been remodeled in the last 50 years and feature a wide combination of building materials and elements. The Main Street Target Area in the 

Village of Lyons has many historic commercial buildings, mostly representing the Romantic (1830-1875) and Victorian eras (1860-1900).  A large 

concentration of buildings feature the Second Empire Styleðdistinctive mansard roof silhouettes are still visible although dormers and window surrounds 

have since been removed or enclosed.  Most buildings displaying Art Deco, Art Moderne, and Modernistic architecture of the 1920s through 1940s is 

evident on the street level storefront modifications.

                                                 
9 Western Erie Canal Heritage Corridor Planning Commission, Western Erie Canal Heritage Corridor Management Plan, 19-21, 23, and 42-44. 
10 ñGripôsò Historical Souvenir of Lyons, 8-9. 
11 Landmark Society of Western New York, Reconnaissance-Level Architectural Survey: Village of Clyde, New York (prepared for the Western Erie Canal Heritage 

Corridor Planning Commission, 2002-2003), 2. 
12 ñGripôsò Historical Souvenir of Lyons, 14 and 15. 
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BUILDING TYPES:  COMMERCIAL  
 

Stores 

 
Stores were the most prolific type of commercial building.  Central business districts developed as the sale of goods, wares, and merchandise changed in 

American stores.  Lyonsô commercial buildings evolved in similar fashion to other historic business districts across the country; early stores were deeper 

than their width and even narrower in areas where railroad surveyors platted the sites. Wealthy entrepreneurs that could afford to buy two or three lots built 

business blocksðbuildings usually at the center of the commercial area featuring a continuity of materials, uniform profile, and orderly fenestration. Later 

stores developed horizontally as lot depth was lost to alleys and other commercial developments.13 

 

Lyons was originally a frontier hamlet with log cabins.  Frame buildings came later, likely gable-front and false-front stores.  The earliest places of 

business were small, one-story structures.  In 1808, Lyons had two taverns and a store, a tailor, saddler, shoemaker, and blacksmith.  Three or four stores 

were on Broad Street and the four corners at the junction of Broad and Water Streets.  Richard Jones had his saddlerôs shop on Broad Street.  The cooper 

shop was located on Water Street east of Broad Street.  A small cabin occupied the southwest corner of Leach and Water Streets.  Major Ezekiel Price 

occupied a log house with a frame lean-to on the northwest corner of Broad and Water Streets.  It was a tavern, store, and the post office.  Dr. William 

Ambler lived in a log house on the site of the former Hotel Baltzel (southwest corner of Broad and Pearl Streets).  The public park was an open common 

before large trees were planted.14 

 

The gable-front was usually clad in clapboard and served as a general store, hardware, grocery, or feed store. The design was simple; straight gable roof 

with an entrance on center with the gableôs apex, corners delineated with narrow corner boards, symmetrical fenestration, and decoration limited to 

brackets in the gable or a large signboard.  The false-front featured a gable roof that was hidden behind a false portion that extended beyond the façade. 

The extra section of wall would sometimes function as a signboard.  Cornerboards, columns, or pilasters were carried up the front and panel divisions 

aligned with the display windows below.  As the Village prospered, these buildings were replaced or incorporated into brick o cast-iron buildings.15  The 

Main Street Target Area does feature a few gable-front commercial buildings on Canal Street, although the original wood siding has been replaced or 

covered with aluminum, vinyl, asphalt or asbestos and the windows have been altered.  

 

There are few surviving early to mid-nineteenth century buildings in the Main Street Target Area, built during the construction and opening of the Erie 

Canal.  24-26 Broad Street (formerly 13-15 Broad Street) is one of the earliest brick-front buildings in the Broad Street-Water Street Historic District, built 

circa 1830-1840.  A cluster of commercial buildings on the south side of Water Street are built alongside to the canal bank so that their basements are 

directly accessible from the canal.  37-43 Water Street is the tallest building of this group.  It features an intact cast-iron storefront with a deep cornice, 

                                                 
13 Herbert Gottfried and Jan Jennings, American Vernacular Design 1870 to 1940: An Illustrated Glossary, 6 and 7. 
14 ñGripôsò Historical Souvenir of Lyons, 9. 
15 Herbert Gottfried and Jan Jennings, American Vernacular Design 1870 to 1940: An Illustrated Glossary, 244-245 and 247. 
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(Above) 24 -26 Broad Street (building on the right) is a 

two -story brick building with stepped end gable walls 

and relatively simple and early detailing of cornice and 

window framing.  

 

(Left ) 37 -43 Water Street (center building) is located 

near the  open lot at the foot  of Broad  Street, the old 

Erie Canal landing place.  

 

heavy brackets, and elaborate window surrounds.  The long and narrow windows on 

third floor, typical of Italianate storefronts, indicate a meeting room or hall in the 

upper level.16 

 

The brick-front was the most popular vernacular design for many years, composed of 

one to three stories and usually as a single building or in groups with party walls up to 

a block in length.  Brick-front characteristics resulted from the interaction of elements 

on the grid that emphasized the façade.  Display space was conventional, whether the 

entrance was on or off-center.  The stores were usually narrow and deep, with single or 

double windows on the upper floors, panels of brickwork, brick friezes, decorative 

lintels or sills, and string courses or sections of belt courses that divided the wall 

laterally.  Commercial façades were usually clad with brick as opposed to stone in 

order to create a more refined appearance.17  

 

Italianate storefronts were popular during the 1870s and 1880s and accomplished 

detailing through brick, iron-front, or wood construction.  Windows were generally tall 

and narrow.  Metal 

was used for 

decorative details 

such as the cornice 

or pilasters.  The 

first floor could be 

differentiated from 

the second floor by an ornamented beam or surface moldings that capped the display 

windows.  In the evolution of commercial storefronts, the Italianate was one of the first 

styles successfully built from manufactured materials.18  Brick-front and Italianate 

stores can all be found in communities throughout the Western Erie Canal Heritage 

Corridor. 

 

                                                 
16 Broad Street-Water Street Historic District, National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (July 1973), 3 and 4. 
17 Herbert Gottfried and Jan Jennings, American Vernacular Design 1870 to 1940: An Illustrated Glossary, 240-241. 
18 Ibid, 239.  
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William Houseõs Business Block as it appears today (above left ) and as it appeared in 1911  (above 

right ).  Historic image courtesy of Lyons, N.Y . 1911  (The Lyons Republican Print).  

Business Block  

 
The business block was a row of 

commercial buildings built over an entire 

block with solid massing and firm lines.  

They were known by their proper names, 

such as the Knowles Block (45-49 Water 

Street) and the former Baltzel Block (17-

25 Broad Street) in the Main Street 

Target Area.   

 

The business block featured a variety of 

enterprises, with entrances servicing the 

first-floor stores or offices and 

apartments on the upper-level spaces.  

The continuous business block featured a 

continuity of materials, most often brick, 

on a uniform profile with orderly 

fenestration.  Sometimes special 

detailing, such as terra-cotta cladding, 

was applied.  The imposing scale of the 

business block identified it as the 

commercial center of the area.  The 

corner block, often with a tower rising 

from a recessed or canted ground-level 

entrance, was a visual and financial 

anchor for many business districts as well.  It often marked the edge or the heart of the commercial district.  The corner block had to integrate two 

elevations and develop a strong entrance.  The vertical bays were broken up through arcading, round-headed elements, continuous sills and lintels, and belt 

courses.  In order to radiate a strong overall shape, cornices of each elevation received more detailing than other sections.  Rarely were these buildings 

uniform in size; one side was usually longer than the other but seldom higher.  A canted entrance set at 45 degrees to the intersection of the walls was a 

popular entrance.
19

 
 

The William House Business Block was a leading bottling business in Lyons, in addition to being a wholesale and retail liquor store.  Its founder, William 

House, came to Lyons from Scranton, Pennsylvania in 1885.  Trained as a glass blower,  House engaged in the bottling business.  In April 1893, he  

                                                 
19 Herbert Gottfried and Jan Jennings, American Vernacular Design 1870 to 1940: An Illustrated Glossary, 6-9. 


